IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA 500 South Duval Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927

> **CASE NO.: SC10-318** L.T. NO.: 2000-CF-1549

LUTHER DOUGLAS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INTIAL BRIEF

FRANK TASSONE, ESQUIRE

Fla. Bar No.: 165611

1833 Atlantic Blvd.

Jacksonville, FL 32207

Phone: 904-396-3344

Fax: 904-396-0924 Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, LUTHER DOUGLAS, will be referred to as "Appellant." The State of Florida will be referred to as "Appellee." Attorney Frank J. Tassone, who is representing Appellant in this matter, will be referred to as the "undersigned counsel."

References to the Record on Appeal for the Direct Appeal will be designated (_ ROA _) with the volume number listed first, followed by the page number indicated on the Index to the Record on Appeal, for instance (3 ROA 1.) References to the Record on Appeal for the Initial Brief to this court will be designated "R" followed by the volume number and page number indicated on the Index to the Record on Appeal, for instance (3 R 1). References to the Supplement Record on Appeal for the Initial Brief to this court will be designated "Supp." followed by the volume number and page number indicated on the Index to the Record on Appeal, for instance (1 Supp. 1)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The following facts are as stated in the trial court's order denying 3.851. (5 R 788-792):

On March 15, 2002, a jury found Douglas guilty, by special verdict, of first-degree felony murder of Mary Ann Hobgood with sexual battery as the underlying felony. The jury did not find that the killing was premeditated. The jury found Douglas guilty of a separate count of sexual battery. Douglas had not presented any witnesses during the guilt phase of his trial.

During the penalty phase of the trial, counsel presented the testimony of 12 family members and friends to establish mitigation. Many of the witnesses admitted that they had little contact with Douglas as an adult. The jury recommended the death penalty by an 11 to 1 vote. The trial court held a Spencer hearing where trial counsel for Douglas presented nothing but a statement from Douglas requesting a life sentence. The court found one statutory mitigator (defendant had no significant criminal history—little weight) and two aggravating factors: HAC, and that the crime was committed in the commission of a sexual battery. Additionally, of the 30 proposed non-statutory mitigators, 14 were rejected. (Please refer to Argument 1 for a briefing of the non-statutory mitigation presented). Finding the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating

circumstances, the trial court sentenced Douglas to death for the murder of Mary Ann Hobgood and life imprisonment for the sexual battery.

Following conviction and sentence, Douglas filed a direct appeal to the FSC on or about May 1, 2003, alleging five claims: (1) The trial court erred in admitting numerous enlarged crime scene and autopsy photographs of the slain victim, whether the photographs were inflammatory and had little or no relevance to any material issues; (2) The trial court abused its discretion in rejecting mitigating evidence related to Douglas' background and character and in minimizing the weight given to mitigating circumstances related to Douglas' abusive childhood on the theory that these events occurred in the past; (3) The trial court erred in instructing the jury on and in finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; (4) The death sentence is disproportionate to the offense committed in this case; (5) The death sentence was unconstitutionally imposed in violation of Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002). Each of these claims was denied by the FSC in Douglas v. State, 878 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 2004) and Douglas' conviction(s) and sentence(s) were affirmed and a mandate was issued on July 15, 2004.

Douglas filed a Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court (USSC) on October 13, 2004, which was denied on January 10, 2005. <u>Douglas v. Florida</u>, 543 U.S. 1061 (2004).

Douglas filed an Amended 3.851 Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on May 17, 2005 raising 28 claims. Douglas filed a Second Amended 3.851 Motion on December 28, 2005 raising 32 claims: (1) Whether rule 3.851, Florida rules of criminal procedure is unconstitutional in that it requires any motion for post-conviction relief to be filed within on year of the date a capital defendant's conviction becomes final; (2) Whether the trial court properly found the HAC aggravator applied in this case; (3) Whether Florida's jury instructions on aggravating circumstances are vague and overboard; (4) Whether Douglas is innocent of first degree murder and denied adversarial testing; (5) Whether newly discovered evidence establishes that Douglas' convictions and sentence are unconstitutionally unreliable in violation of the 5th, 6th, 8th, and 14th amendment; (6) Whether Douglas is innocent of the death penalty; (7) Whether the prosecutor impermissibly suggested to the jury that the law required it to recommend a sentence of death; (8) Whether Douglas' inability to interview jurors violates his rights under the 6th, 8th, and 14th amendments; (9) Whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury that "No one has the right to violate the rules we all share;" (10) Whether the trial counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase of Douglas' capital trial; (11) Whether Florida's capital sentencing statute fails to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty or violates Douglas' constitutional right to due process and to be free from cruel and unusual

punishment; (12) Whether Douglas' constitutional rights were violated because no reliable transcript of his capital trial was produced rendering reliable appellate review impossible; (13) Whether Douglas' constitutional rights were violated because the trial court permitted the state to introduce gruesome and shocking photographs to the jury; (14) Whether Douglas' constitutional rights were violated when defense counsel failed to adequately question potential jurors about their views on the death penalty and failed to ensure an impartial jury was seated; (15) Whether the trial judge erred in instructing the jury regarding expert testimony; (16) Whether the trial judge erred in refusing to find and weigh the mitigating circumstances set out in the record; (17) Whether the instruction of non-statutory aggravating factors resulted in the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty in violation of the 8th and 14th amendments; (18) Whether the prosecutor's comments and jury instructions unconstitutionally diluted the juror's sense of responsibility toward sentencing in violation of the United States Supreme Court's decision in Caldwell v. Mississippi; (18-2) Whether the trial counsel was ineffective at the guilt and penalty phase of Douglas' capital trial, including the following subclaims: a) counsel was ineffective in failing to subpoena critical penalty phase witnesses; b) counsel was ineffective by failing to present available mental health mitigation; c) counsel was ineffective in failing to object and allowing the state to lead witnesses on direct examination; d) counsel was

ineffective in failing to investigate and impeach critical state witnesses; e) counsel was ineffective by failing to investigate, develop, and present readily available defenses based on the Defendant's diminished capacity; g) trial court erred in rejecting mitigating evidence; (19) Whether Douglas was deprived of an adequate mental health evaluation in accord with the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ake v. Oklahoma; (20) Whether the aggravating factors found by the trial judge were unconstitutionally applied; (21) Whether there was improper consideration of the victim impact evidence; (22) Whether the trial judge's instructions improperly shifted the burden to the defendant to prove a life sentence was appropriate; (22-2) Whether the jury was misled about its role in sentencing in violation of the 8th and 14th amendment; (23) Whether the trial judge erred in permitting the state to argue a lack of remorse (24) Whether the state withheld material and exculpatory evidence, whether counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and whether Douglas was deprived of an adequate adversarial testing (25) Whether cumulative error deprived Douglas of a fair trial in violation of the 6th, 8th, and 14th amendments; (31)(sic) Whether the trial was ineffective at the guilt and penalty phase of Douglas' capital trial; (32) Whether the totality of the trial demonstrates counsel was ineffective at the guilt and penalty phase of Douglas' capital trial; (33) Whether the state withheld material and exculpatory evidence in violation of Brady v. Maryland; (34) Whether Florida's capital sentencing scheme

is unconstitutional in light of the United States Supreme Court decision in Ring v.

Arizona; (35) Whether Douglas' death sentence is disproportionate.

The court after <u>Huff</u> hearing, in a May 16, 2006 Order, granted evidentiary hearing on Claim 10, in part (only with respect to the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate available mental mitigation evidence and to present the testimony of Dr. Harry Krop during the penalty phase of the Defendant's capital trial), and on Claim 18-2, in part (only with respect to the claim that trial counsel was ineffective during the investigation and presentation of available mental mitigation evidence through Dr. Krop during the penalty phase of the Defendant's capital trial). An evidentiary hearing was conducted on October 12, 2006 and November 21, 2006. On November 20, 2009, in written order, the court denied all claims. This appeal follows.

Douglas is currently incarcerated in Union Correctional Institution in Raiford, Florida.

-

After evidentiary hearing was conducted in this case, post-conviction counsel withdrew from the case due to his Judicial appointment in the Florida Fourth Judicial Circuit. Undersigned assumed representation of Douglas on February 23, 2009. On March 5, 2009 undersigned filed a motion with the court to stay ruling on the 3.851 Motions of previous counsel so that undersigned could review the record. This motion was denied by the court on March 24, 2009.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts review a circuit court's resolution of a <u>Strickland</u> claim under a mixed standard of review, because both the performance and the prejudice of the <u>Strickland</u> test present mixed questions of law and fact. Appeals courts defer to the circuit court's factual findings, but appellate courts review de novo the circuit courts legal conclusions. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 883 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2004).

However, though the trial court's factual findings are to be given deference, said trial court decisions must be supported by competent, substantial evidence in order for an appellate court to give same. Id. [Holding that, "so long as the trial court's decisions are supported by competent, substantial evidence, an appellate court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, and likewise, on the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.]. See also Oceanic International Corp v. Lantana Boatvard, 402 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) [Holding that, "when an appellate court is convinced that an express or inferential finding of the trial court is without support of any substantial evidence, is clearly against the weight of the evidence, or that the trial court has misapplied the law to the established facts, then the decision is clearly erroneous and the appellate court will reverse because the trial court has failed to give legal effect to the evidence in its entirety."].

Lastly, when an appellate court is convinced that...the trial court misapplied the law to the established facts, then the decision is "clearly erroneous" and the appellate court will reverse because the trial court has "failed to give legal effect to the evidence" in its entirety. Holland v. Gross, 89 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1956); See also Dorton v. Jensen, 676 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1996).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO INVESTIGATE AND PROVIDE HIS EXPERT WITH THE REOUESTED INFORMATION TO DIAGNOSE MR. DOUGLAS **EMOTIONAL** AN "EXTREME DISTURBANCE." DEPRESSION, CHRONIC BORDERLINE INTELLECTUAL FUNCTIONING, FRONTAL LOBE IMPAIRMENT, AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT MENTAL HEALTH **MITIGATION** SUBSEQUENTLY PRESENT THESE MITIGATORS TO THE **JURY**
- II. WHETHER THE REQUIREMENT THAT DOUGLAS MUST FILE A MOTION UNDER FLA. R. CRIM. PRO. 3.851 ONE YEAR AFTER HIS CONVICTION HAS BECOME FINAL VIOLATES HIS RIGHTS OF DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW UNDER THE 8TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS AS WELL AS THE RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND ACCESS TO THE COURTS AS WELL AS HIS RIGHT TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
- III. WHETHER FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED IN THIS CASE BECAUSE IT FAILS TO PREVENT THE ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY AND IS A VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS ENSURING DUE PROCESS AND PROHIBITING CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO INVESTIGATE AND PROVIDE HIS EXPERT WITH THE REQUESTED INFORMATION TO DIAGNOSE MR. DOUGLAS WITH AN **EMOTIONAL** DISTURBANCE," "EXTREME CHRONIC DEPRESSION, BORDERLINE INTELLECTUAL FUNCTIONING, FRONTAL LOBE IMPAIRMENT, AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT MENTAL HEALTH **MITIGATION** SUBSEQUENTLY PRESENT THESE MITIGATORS TO THE **JURY**

Trial counsel for Douglas failed to provide its mental health expert with background information such as school records and contact information for Douglas' family member despite explicit requests for same by the expert for further evaluation of Douglas for mitigation purposes.

Douglas' school records, which were not secured by trial counsel nor provided to the jury or the expert for diagnostic and evaluative purposes evince that Douglas suffers from borderline intelligence, with an IQ of 75; that he was diagnosed with cognitive and emotional disabilities as a child such as excessive anxiety, self-doubt, and self-consciousness; that he received C's, D's, and F's in almost every class despite regular attendance throughout his short academic career; and that he was unable to complete the seventh grade after failing three times.

Had these records been presented to the mental health expert and had Douglas undergone a follow up evaluation with this expert, as requested, trial counsel would have learned that Douglas has emotional and cognitive disabilities,

frontal lobe dysfunction, suffers from chronic depression as a result of his childhood abuse, that because the depression was never treated, he turned to drugs and alcohol, and that at the time of the crime, Douglas was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

There was no valid, strategic reason for failing to follow up with the mental health expert, as defense counsel's decision to follow its chosen penalty was made without completing a reasonable mitigation investigation.

Douglas was prejudiced by the failures of his trial counsel—had counsel conducted a complete mitigation investigation and provided his mental health expert with requested information, a the statutory mitigator of extreme mental or emotional disturbance would have been proven; various new non-statutory mitigators would have been proven; the court would have found that several proven non-statutory mitigators deserved greater weight; and the found statutory mitigator, that Douglas had no significant criminal history, would have been given greater weight. Had this additional, powerful mitigation been shown during the penalty phase, there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury would not have recommended death for Douglas.

II. THE REQUIREMENT THAT DOUGLAS FILE A MOTION UNDER FLA. R. CRIM. PRO. 3.851 ONE YEAR AFTER HIS CONVICTION HAS BECOME FINAL VIOLATES HIS RIGHTS OF DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW UNDER THE 8TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS AS WELL AS THE RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND

ACCESS TO THE COURTS AS WELL AS HIS RIGHT TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

The distinction between inmates sentenced to death and all other inmates with respect to the filing deadlines for motions for post-conviction relief under Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.850/3.851 is unconstitutional. The one-year filing deadline for Motions filed under 3.851 violates a defendant's rights to due process, equal protection, effective assistance of counsel, access to the courts, and the defendant's rights to petition for writ of habeas corpus.

III. FLORIDA'S CAPITAL **SENTENCING STATUTE** IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED IN BECAUSE IT **FAILS** CASE TO **PREVENT** ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY AND IS A VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS ENSURING DUE PROCESS AND PROHIBITING CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT

The sentencing statute denies Douglas due process and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment because electrocution or lethal injection imposes physical and psychological torture. Florida's capital sentencing statute fails to prevent the arbitrary imposition of the death penalty. Florida Statute § 921.141 violates Art. V, Sec. 2(a) of the Florida Constitution by regulating matters of practice and procedure which are exclusively within the province of the Florida Supreme Court. (1 R 116-118.)

ARGUMENT I

TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO INVESTIGATE AND PROVIDE HIS EXPERT WITH THE REQUESTED INFORMATION TO DIAGNOSE MR. DOUGLAS WITH AN "EXTREME EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE," CHRONIC DEPRESSION, BORDERLINE INTELLECTUAL FUNCTIONING, FRONTAL LOBE IMPAIRMENT, AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATION AND SUBSEQUENTLY PRESENT THESE MITIGATORS TO THE JURY

I. Trial counsel failed to investigate and provide sufficient background information to the mental health expert retained by counsel for the purpose of determining competency and establish mitigating evidence.

Because the mental health expert retained during Douglas' trial proceedings was not provided necessary background information to assist in an evaluation of mental mitigation, counsel was left unaware that Douglas suffered an extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the crime, suffered chronic depression since childhood, was functioning at in the borderline range of intelligence with a full scale IQ of 75, and had frontal lobe dysfunction likely resultant from organic brain damage. As such, this powerful mitigation was not presented in the penalty phase. The mitigation that was presented in the penalty phase, according to the trial court's sentencing order was, "relatively insignificant," "when considered collectively." (3 R 440) ² (emphasis added.)

_

² Trial counsel's failure to adequately investigate, prepare, and present evidence at the penalty phase of Douglas' trial was raised on 3.851 appeal at the trial level in claims 10,² 18 subpart 2,² and 19² of previous counsel's brief. The trial court granted evidentiary hearing on claims 10 and 18-2.²

A. Counsel failed to honor the request of its mental health expert to provide him documentation relevant to mitigation and schedule a date where the expert could conduct a full neurological battery of testing.

Dr. Krop was retained by trial counsel to evaluate Douglas for competency and potential mitigation. Dr. Krop issued an initial report to trial counsel (well before Douglas' trial) on June 15, 2000 stating that Douglas was competent to proceed. In this report, Dr. Krop, who had been unable to develop mitigation due to lack of information, requested additional records and materials necessary for completing a full neurological battery of testing for establishing mental mitigation. Dr. Krop requested depositions, school records, prior police reports, prior PSI's, medical records, and any other relevant material that might pertain to potential mitigation. (3 R 385-86). Dr. Krop's letter also requested that counsel assist him in coordinating a time where he could administer a complete battery of neurological testing necessary for determining whether mental mitigation existed. (3 R 386).

Dr. Krop did not receive any of the requested information from Douglas' counsel. (3 R 386). Dr. Krop did not have an opportunity to evaluate Douglas for mitigation purposes. (3 R 386). Dr. Krop did not have the opportunity to speak with Douglas' family members. (3 R.386). According to Dr. Krop, "It appears that I just – I never followed up with Mr. Douglas and I guess never heard from Mr. Eler, so I'm not sure I would have even known that the case had gone to trial."

(3 R 392). Second chair counsel, whose sole responsibility was to handle the penalty phase of Douglas' trial, never spoke with Dr. Krop about Douglas' case. (6 R 956). Nor did penalty phase counsel provide Dr. Krop with the requested information.

B. Counsel failed to conduct an adequate mitigation investigation in preparation for the penalty phase of Douglas' trial.

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