IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LUTHER DOUGLAS

Appellant,

v. SC10-318

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

disturbance where the defendant's diagnosis included anti-social and borderline personality features which show an indifference to harming others and dangerousness, and where there was no evidence that the defendant was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law).

Based on all of the above, this Court finds that the Defendant has failed to establish that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to present evidence of mental health mitigation. There is no reasonable probability that had this evidence been presented the balance of aggravators and mitigators would have been any different and resulted in a life sentence. This Court's confidence in the outcome of the penalty phase proceedings remains intact. Accordingly, sub-claim 2 is denied.

(PCR Vol. V 819, 822-839).

E. Argument

This Court may deny Douglas's claims for at least two reasons. First, Douglas cannot show prejudice from trial counsels' failure to call Dr. Krop or Dr. Miller, to the witness stand, during the penalty phase of Douglas's capital trial. Although each expert would have provided some evidence in mitigation, their testimony would have been devastating to trial counsels' attempt to portray Douglas in the best light possible.

Calling Drs. Krop and Miller to put on evidence in support the "emotional distress" mental mitigator would have exposed the jury to Douglas's extensive juvenile and adult arrest records as well as his unwillingness or inability to benefit from a good

rehabilitative program like the one described by Dr. Miller. Calling Dr. Miller would also have put evidence before the jury that Douglas was a drug dealer, overreacts to stress, had previously pulled a gun on another woman with the intent to kill her and was "a dangerous man." Counsel is not ineffective for failing to put on such damaging testimony. Reed v. State, 875 So.2d 415, 437 (Fla. 2004) (ruling counsel was not ineffective for failing to put on family background testimony that cast Reed in a bad light, which included evidence Reed had broken his grandmother's nose, abused drugs over many years, was jailed on various occasions, continued his drug use after his brother took him in on the condition that he stop using drugs, and threatened to kill his brother's wife).

In addition to Douglas's highly unfavorable social history, calling Dr. Krop and Dr. Miller would have revealed, at a minimum, that Douglas has a personality disorder with antisocial traits and had scored high on the psychopathic deviant scale when Dr. Krop administered the MMPI. The Florida Supreme Court has on several occasions found testimony that a defendant has an

Neither Dr. Krop nor Dr. Miller opined that Douglas's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to requirements of law were substantially impaired. Likewise, Dr. Krop's testimony did not establish the "emotional disturbance" mental mitigator applied because Dr. Krop could not testify Douglas's emotional disturbance was extreme. (PCR Vol. III 401-402, 410-411). Additionally, Douglas is not mentally retarded and has no major mental illness.

antisocial personality disorder is not evidence that a jury looks upon favorably. Freeman v. State, 852 So.2d 216, 224 (Fla. 2003) (noting that antisocial personality disorder is "a trait most jurors tend to look disfavorably upon."). See also Reed v. State, 875 So.2d 415, 437 (Fla. 2004); Cummings-El v. State, 863 So.2d 246, 268 (Fla. 2003) (noting that antisocial personality disorder is not a mitigating factor); Elledge v. State, 706 So.2d 1340, 1346 (Fla. 1997) (affirming death sentence where trial court denied statutory mental health mitigator based on the expert testimony the defendant had antisocial personality disorder and that such disorder is not a mental illness, but a life long history of a person who makes bad conscious and volitional choices in life).

Taken as a whole, both Dr. Krop and Dr. Miller's testimony was much more harmful, than helpful. Because their testimony would have allowed evidence to come in that was manifestly unfavorable, Douglas has failed to present proof sufficient to undermine the confidence in the outcome of his penalty phase proceedings and sentence to death. As such, Douglas has failed to overcome the prejudice prong in the Strickland analysis and this court should deny his claim.

Second, this claim may be denied because the decision to portray Douglas in the best light possible was a sound strategic decision made after investigation by two very experienced trial

counsel. Trial counsel cannot be ineffective if, based on the circumstances that existed at the time of trial, he or she makes a reasonable strategic decision not to call a particular witness or witnesses. A strategic decision is reasonable unless no other trial counsel, under the same circumstances, would have made the same decision. Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1315 (11th Cir. 2000)(noting that for a petitioner to show that the conduct was unreasonable, a petitioner must establish that no competent counsel would have taken the action that his counsel did take); Provenzano v. Singletary, 148 F.3d 1327, 1332 (11th Cir. 1998) (noting that counsel's conduct is unreasonable only if petitioner shows "that no competent counsel would have made such a choice").

In this case, after investigation, trial counsel decided to put on family background testimony that would put Douglas in the best light possible. The record establishes that trial counsel vigorously pursued this defense strategy at the penalty phase.

Trial counsel put on twelve (12) mitigation witnesses to testify about Douglas's myriad positive character traits and his future plans for bettering himself. Overlaying this testimony was evidence that Douglas's early childhood life was dysfunctional because of his father's overly controlling and abusive behavior which culminated in Douglas's father leaving the family home before Douglas was a teenager. The record is

replete with trial counsel's efforts to persuade the jury that Douglas was a person who could, and did, overcome extreme adversity and childhood trauma to become a better person.

Most, if not all, reasonable counsel would have refrained from putting on evidence that totally contradicted the picture painted by Douglas's family members and friends. From Douglas's family members and friends, the jury heard testimony that Douglas had a rough start in life but was a good person with positive character traits and potential for rehabilitation.

From Drs. Miller and Krop, the jury would have heard evidence of Douglas's antisocial personality traits and associated conduct. This Court has determined that it is a reasonable strategic decision not to present evidence the defendant has antisocial personality disorder. <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 905 So.2d 42, 57-58 (Fla. 2005) (holding that defense counsel made a reasonable strategic decision not to present mental health mitigation testimony at the penalty phase because it would have opened the door to mental health expert's finding that defendant was a sociopath).

Indeed, through Drs. Krop and Miller, the jury would have learned that Douglas's conduct on the night of the murder was simply the culmination of a life of lawlessness, indifference to the needs and rights of others, illegal drugs, and violence toward women. This expert testimony not only would have been

more harmful than helpful, it would have completely undermined the strategy employed by trial counsel during the penalty phase of Douglas's capital trial. Evans v. State, 946 So.2d 1 (Fla. 2006) (While evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing established that Evans suffered from mental health problems, it also displayed a long history of behavioral problems and escalating violence throughout his school career. Presenting this evidence at the penalty phase would have resulted in the jury hearing about Evans' aggression towards students teachers, his aggression towards police officers, his pride in being known as a "jack-boy" because he robs drug dealers, and his habit of carrying a gun. It is just as likely that this evidence would have been more "aggravating" than mitigating).

Any reasonable trial counsel, having investigated Douglas's family and social history, and learning from a competent mental health professional that Douglas likely has antisocial personality disorder, may have made the same decision that trial counsel did in this case. A finding trial counsel made a reasonable strategic decision to forgo the presentation of evidence that is not mitigating precludes a finding of deficient Burns v. State, 944 So.2d 234 performance. (Fla. 2006) (testimony that Burns suffered from a psychotic disturbance would have undermined the positive traits accentuated by the mitigation evidence presented); Hannon v. State, 941 So.2d 1109

(Fla. 2006)(Counsel not ineffective for failing to present testimony that Hannon may have had drug and alcohol problems that may have influenced him to commit the murders because such evidence would have been in total conflict with the picture of the nonviolent, "teddy bear" image of Hannon and inconsistent with his innocence/alibi defense); Henry v. State, 862 So.2d 679, 686 (Fla. 2003) (determining there was no deficient performance in counsel's decision to humanize defendant rather than use mental health testimony); Banks v. State, 842 So.2d 788 (Fla. 2003) (trial counsel not ineffective for failing to call Dr. McClaren when he rendered an unfavorable report); Shere v. State, 742 So.2d 215, 223-24 (Fla. 1999) (determining that not ineffective for failing to request counsel was neuropsychological or neurological exam by a qualified expert even though trial counsel had obtained evidence of defendant's "severe head injury as a youth and his subsequent headaches" where counsel's penalty phase strategy was to portray the defendant as "a kind, gentle, God-fearing man"); Rutherford v. State, 727 So.2d 216, 223 (Fla. 1998) (determining there was no error where retrial counsel was aware of mental mitigation "but made a strategic decision under the circumstances . . . to instead focus on the 'humanization' of Rutherford through lay testimony"); Haliburton v. Singletary, 691 So.2d 466 (Fla. 1997) (counsel not ineffective for failing to call mental health expert even though she could have testified that there was a strong indication of brain damage, because she would have also testified that Haliburton was an extremely dangerous person who was likely to kill again); Bryan v. Dugger, 641 So.2d 61, 64 (Fla. 1994) (determining that trial counsel was not ineffective for choosing a mitigation strategy of humanizing the defendant and not calling a mental health expert). Douglas's claims should be denied.

ISSUE II

WHETHER FLORIDA RULE 3.851 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

In this claim, Douglas alleges that Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure is unconstitutional because it requires capital defendants to file any motion for post-conviction relief within one year of the date his convictions and sentence to death become final. Douglas alleges the rule violates a defendant's right to due process, equal protection, access to courts, effective assistance of counsel, and the defendant's rights to petition for a writ of habeas corpus. (IB 39).

Douglas raised this claim in his motion for post-conviction relief. The collateral court summarily denied the claim. (PCR Vol. V 794). The collateral court pointed to the many cases from this Court wherein this Court has rejected the same claim Douglas makes here. (PCR Vol. V 794).

Before this Court, Douglas does not explain how the rule operates so oppressively. Indeed, what actually happened in his case seems to belie any oppression.

Douglas filed his initial motion for post-conviction relief just four months after his convictions and sentence to

⁸ Douglas attempts in this claim to "re-allege and reincorporate arguments provided in his Amended 3.851 to the trial court in support of this claim." (IB 39).

death became final. (PCR Vol. I 89-169). Moreover, Douglas amended his claim some seven months later, raising thirty-two claims. (PCR Supp 24-161).

The collateral court granted Douglas an evidentiary hearing on the claims he listed as requiring a factual determination and granted the parties an opportunity to submit written closing arguments after the hearing. Douglas also filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court contemporaneously with the filing of his initial brief. Douglas points to no actual proof that the time limitations set forth in Rule 3.851 denied him equal protection, access to the courts, effective assistance of counsel, due process or an opportunity to file a petition for a writ of habeas corpus.

Even so, this Court has rejected this same claim on numerous occasions. In <u>Vining v. State</u>, 827 So.2d 201, 215 (Fla. 2002), the Florida Supreme Court noted that it has "repeatedly rejected arguments that the one-year time limit imposed by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 is unconstitutional." See also <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 990 So.2d 1017, 1034 (Fla. 2008) ("[R]ule 3.851 as amended in 2001 does not violate a defendant's due process rights or equal

Douglas's conviction became final on January 10, 2005 when the United States Supreme Court denied his petition for a writ of certiorari. Douglas v. Florida, 543 U.S. 1061 (2005).

protection rights."); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 919
(Fla. 2000); Koon v. Dugger, 619 So.2d 246, 251 (Fla. 1993).

To the extent that Douglas claims the rule deprives him of effective assistance of collateral counsel, this Court has specifically rejected the same claim many times. Claims of ineffective assistance of collateral counsel do not present a cognizable claim for relief. Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 215 (Fla. 2002). See also Lambrix v. State, 698 So.2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996).

ISSUE III

WHETHER FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING SCHEME IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

In this claim, Douglas avers that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional on various grounds including that Douglas's sentence to death violates the dictates of Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). Douglas also avers that Florida's method of administering lethal injection violates Douglas's Eighth Amendment right to be free from against cruel and unusual punishments.

Douglas raised the <u>Ring</u> portion of this claim in his second amended motion for post-conviction relief. (PCR Supp 152-156). The collateral court denied his claim. (PCR Vol. V 847-848). The collateral court found the claim to be procedurally barred because it was raised and rejected on direct appeal. (PCR Vol. V 847).

Douglas claims his sentencing jury failed to determine the existence of any aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt. claims this failure violates nearly all of constitutional rights. (IB 45). Douglas is mistaken. Douglas's jury found Douglas guilty of felony murder with sexual battery as the underlying felony. The jury also found Douglas guilty separately of sexual battery. As such, Douglas's jury found Florida's "in the course of an enumerated felony" unanimously beyond a reasonable doubt. In any event, the jury's death recommendation demonstrates the jury not only found at least one aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt but found sufficient aggravators to warrant a death sentence.

The collateral court also found the claim to be without merit as Douglas was convicted by a 12 person jury, unanimously and beyond a reasonable doubt, of sexual battery. Moreover, one of the aggravators found to exist was that Douglas committed the murder in the course of a sexual battery. (PCR Vol. V 847-848). Citing to several cases from this Court, the collateral court ruled that Ring was satisfied when the defendant committed the murder in the course of an enumerated felony, such as sexual battery. (PCR Vol. V 847).

This Court may deny this claim on two grounds. First, Douglas's attack on Florida's capital sentencing scheme is procedurally barred. ¹¹ Claims that Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional can be and should be raised on direct appeal. Failure to do so acts as a procedural bar to Douglas's attempts to re-litigate these issues in post-conviction proceedings. Miller v. State, 926 So.2d 1243, 1256 (Fla. 2006) (Claims challenging the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing procedures should be raised at trial and on direct appeal). See also Gorby v. State, 819 So.2d 664, 687 (Fla. 2002).

To the extent that any part of claim III relies on Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), the claim is procedurally barred because this Court rejected Douglas's Ring claim on direct appeal. Douglas v. State, 878 So.2d 1246, 1263-1264 (Fla. 2004).

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